THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-01699
Appellate Case No.: 2017-002433

RECEIVED

AUG 22 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Lallie Qualls Appellant,

v.

Burlington Coat Factory of South Carolina, LLC
and Burlington Coat Factory Direct Corp. Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert F. Goings (SC Bar # 74855)
Jessica L. Gooding (SC Bar # 101210)
Goings Law Firm, LLC
1510 Calhoun Street
Post Office Box 436 (29202)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone: (803) 350-9230
Fax: (877) 789-6340
Email: rgoings@goingslawfirm.com
jgooding@goingslawfirm.com

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Lallie Qualls (“Ms. Qualls”) appeals the circuit court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondents Burlington Coat Factory of South Carolina, LLC and Burlington Coat Factory Direct Corporation (collectively, “Burlington”). The circuit court improperly granted summary judgment because Ms. Qualls presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence that Burlington possessed the requisite actual or constructive notice that a hazardous condition existed on its premises. As a result, Ms. Qualls presented a jury question as to whether Burlington breached a duty to her by failing to remedy the hazardous condition to prevent Ms. Qualls’s injuries.

On appeal from a grant of summary judgment, this Honorable Court is bound by law to review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to Ms. Qualls—as the non-moving party—when determining whether summary judgment was proper. As more fully discussed below, Ms. Qualls presented genuine factual issues that were material to whether Burlington possessed the requisite notice to create a duty of care for Ms. Qualls’s safety. Accordingly, Ms. Qualls is entitled to present this evidence to a jury and respectfully requests this Court to reverse the circuit court’s order and remand for a trial on the merits of her claim for negligence against Burlington.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court improperly grant summary judgment when (1) Ms. Qualls presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence that Burlington possessed actual or constructive notice of a hazardous condition on its premises yet failed to take appropriate action to prevent Ms. Qualls's injuries; and (2) the court misapplied the summary judgment standard by improperly viewing the evidence and resolving disputed factual issues?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Qualls instituted this civil suit against Burlington on March 16, 2016, asserting a claim for negligence. (R. pp. 16-24). Ms. Qualls was seriously injured when she fell on a foreign wet substance on Burlington's floor. (R. p. 17, ¶ 12). Ms. Qualls claimed Burlington possessed either actual or constructive notice that a hazardous condition existed on its premises, yet it failed to remedy this condition, and its failure to do so resulted in extensive injuries to Ms. Qualls.

After the parties engaged in preliminary discovery, Burlington moved for summary judgment on March 9, 2017. (R. pp. 25-26). The circuit court heard the parties' motions on June 6, 2017. (R. p. 83). On August 28, 2017, the circuit court entered an order granting Burlington's motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 1). Ms. Qualls timely filed a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend the order granting summary judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, on September 8, 2017. (R. pp. 62-72). On November 15, 2017, the circuit court summarily denied Ms. Qualls's motion to reconsider. (R. p. 15). Ms. Qualls timely appealed to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 31, 2015, Ms. Qualls went shopping with her daughter at Burlington Coat Factory in Columbia, South Carolina. (R. p. 115, lines 18-20). Ms. Qualls selected a dress and went to the front of the store to check out. (R. p. 117, lines 6-12). She then waited in line for instruction on which register she should use. (R. p. 117, lines 12-14). Ms. Qualls was carrying her purse on her shoulder and the dress she intended to buy. (R. p. 119, line 2). While walking to the second register, Ms. Qualls slipped on a liquid substance on the floor, severely injuring her left knee. (R. p. 122, lines 2-4; p. 123, lines 3-5; p. 127, lines 6-7 and 20-22). There was no caution sign or other warning to draw a shopper's attention to this hazard in the checkout area. (R. p. 152, lines 11-13). The manager on duty, Ms. Pamela Arsenault, was nearby and went to assist Ms. Qualls, kneeling beside her and apologizing for what happened. (R. p. 128, lines 14-18). When Ms. Arsenault reached Ms. Qualls, she noticed a dark liquid substance on the floor. (R. pp. 232, lines 20-24; p. 237, lines 19-22). An ambulance transported Ms. Qualls to the emergency room at Palmetto Health Richland Hospital where she was diagnosed with a severely fractured patella and required to undergo surgery. (R. p. 130, lines 2-17; p. 131, lines 7-19).

Burlington's surveillance camera captured Ms. Qualls's fall and the events precipitating it. (R. p. 40, timestamp 25:30-32:00). While Ms. Qualls was shopping, Taylor Simon, a Burlington employee, was working behind the register. (R. p. 40, timestamp 0:00-29:05). She was assisting two adult women who had two young children with them, one of whom was sitting in the shopping cart. (R. p. 40; timestamp 23:37-29:05). While Ms. Simon was facing the customers and ringing up the women's purchases, the child sitting in the cart threw a drinking cup several feet across the store. (R. p. 232, lines 20-24; R. p. 40, timestamp 25:35). The cup hit the ground and a liquid spilled onto the tile floor. (R. p. 232, lines 20-24). A moment later, the older child picked up the

cup, but he did not clean up the spill. (R. p. 40, timestamp 25:45). Burlington's 30(b)(6) designee, Pamela Arsenault, testified that the spill was about ten feet in front of at least two employees¹ working the registers. (R. p. 264, line 13-p. 265, line 17; *see also* R. p. 158, lines 15-18; p. 164, lines 8-18). Video surveillance confirms that between the time the spill occurred and the time Ms. Qualls fell, at least three customers noticed the spill when passing by it. (R. p. 40, timestamps 26:39, 28:04, 29:53). Surveillance footage also clearly shows these patrons conspicuously altered their paths or took exaggerated steps to avoid the spill. (R. p. 40, timestamps 26:39, 28:04, 29:53).

When Ms. Simon finished assisting these customers, she walked out from behind her register and within inches of the spill on the way to take her break. (R. p. 259, lines 14-18). Surveillance footage also shows Ms. Simon looking down and away from the surveillance camera towards the spill. (R. p. 156, line 24-p. 157, line 12; p. 162, lines 14-24; R. p. 258, lines 4-17). Ms. Arsenault agreed that Ms. Simon was looking down while walking by the spill, but *testified that she did not see the spill because she was instead looking at—and distracted by—her personal cell phone*. (R. p. 259, line 2-p. 261, line 14; p. 274, lines 2-15). Although Burlington asserted to the circuit court Ms. Simon was taking her break when she was looking at her phone, Ms. Arsenault admitted that breaks were flexible and dictated by “the needs of the business,” and employees were technically still on the job during their breaks. (R. p. 256, line 8-p. 257, line 15). When questioned, Ms. Arsenault conceded Ms. Simon was still on the clock, and store policy dictates employees should not use their personal cell phones while working. (R. p. 257, lines 5-18).

¹ Presumably other employees witnessed this incident; however, the angle of the camera only conclusively shows two employees behind the registers at the time the child threw the cup onto the floor.

In addition, the incident report Ms. Arsenault completed immediately following Ms. Qualls's fall noted, "**noticeable** spill, **heavy traffic** area." (emphasis added) (R. p. 268, lines 14-18). Burlington's own policies state that "[i]t is a responsibility of all Burlington Coat Factory employees to actively participate in efforts to improve the safety of our stores." (R. p. 195, line 21-p. 196, line 4). However, Ms. Simon did nothing to warn customers of the hazard created by the spill or to cure it.² (R. p. 259, lines 14-22).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The summary judgment standard in South Carolina is clear. When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this Court applies the same standard as the circuit court applies pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP. *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 30, 619 S.E.2d 437, 443 (Ct. App. 2005). Rule 56(c), SCRCP, provides summary judgment shall be granted when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

"In a negligence case, whe[n] the burden of proof is a preponderance of the evidence standard, the non-moving party must only submit a *mere scintilla of evidence* to withstand a motion for summary judgment." *Fisher v. Shipyard Vill. Council of Co-Owners, Inc.*, 415 S.C. 256, 270, 781 S.E.2d 903, 910 (2016) (emphasis added). "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Id.* at 329-30, 673 S.E.2d at 802. Further, summary judgment is not appropriate when further inquiry into the facts of the case is

² "If an associate observes a potentially unsafe or hazardous condition, . . . they should take immediate action to try to warn any potential customers of that condition or take action to remedy it immediately." (R. p. 213, line 24-p. 214, line 4).

desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). “Generally, negligence claims are not susceptible of summary adjudication because of the many questions normally present in such cases concerning the reasonableness of a party’s conduct, foreseeability, and proximate cause.” *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 199, 348 S.E.2d 839, 842 (Ct. App. 1986). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 204, 220, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005). Where reasonable minds can differ, summary judgment is inappropriate. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

In South Carolina, a property owner owes business visitors or invitees the duty of exercising reasonable and ordinary care for their safety and is liable for any injuries resulting from a breach of this duty. *Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Syst.*, 362 S.C. 250, 256, 607 S.E.2d 362, 365 (Ct. App. 2004). “To establish a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must prove the following three elements: (1) a duty owed by defendant to plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damages proximately resulting from the breach.” *Shaw v. City of Charleston*, 351 S.C. 32, 40, 567 S.E.2d 530, 534 (Ct. App. 2002). “The question of negligence is a mixed question of law and fact. First, the court must resolve, as a matter of law, whether the law recognizes a particular duty.” *Burnett v. Family Kingdom, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 183, 189, 691 S.E.2d 170, 173 (Ct. App. 2010) (citation omitted). If a duty exists, it is for the jury to then determine whether the defendant breached the duty, resulting in damage to the plaintiff. *Fisher v. Shipyard Vill. Council of Co-Owners, Inc.*, 415 S.C. 256, 272-74, 781 S.E.2d 903, 912 (2016) (finding “at least a scintilla of evidence in the record to indicate an issue of material fact” as to breach and holding “the trial court erred in granting Petitioners’ motion for summary judgment”).

I. Ms. Qualls Presented Evidence of Actual and Constructive Notice.

In a premises liability case, the plaintiff may meet her burden by putting forth evidence showing “either (1) that the injury was caused by a specific act of [the defendant] which created the dangerous condition; or (2) that [the defendant] had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition and failed to remedy it.” *Pringle v. SLR, Inc. of Summerton*, 382 S.C 397, 675 S.E.2d 783 (Ct. App. 2009). As more fully discussed below, the circuit court’s ruling should be reversed because Ms. Qualls presented at least a mere scintilla of evidence that Burlington had actual—or at the very least—constructive notice, that a foreign substance was on its floor, yet it failed to take reasonable measures to warn patrons or remedy the hazard.

1. Actual Notice

Neither party contests a third party spilled the liquid on the floor that resulted in Ms. Qualls’s injuries. As a result, the dispositive question for purposes of this appeal is whether Burlington had actual or constructive notice of the presence of the liquid on its floor. *Gillespie v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 90, 91, 394 S.E.2d 24, 24 (Ct. App. 1990). (“[A] customer who seeks to recover for injuries sustained as a result of a fall caused by a foreign substance on a storekeeper’s floor must prove either that the foreign substance was placed on the floor by the storekeeper or that the storekeeper had actual or constructive notice of its presence on the floor and failed to remove it.”).

Burlington’s own incident report and video surveillance as well as Ms. Arsenault’s admissions confirm Ms. Qualls presented at least a mere scintilla of evidence that Burlington had actual knowledge of the spill yet failed to take the appropriate action. First, Burlington’s incident report—recorded immediately after the accident—states the spill was “noticeable” and occurred in a “heavy traffic” area. (R. p. 264, lines 13-19; p. 268, lines 14-18; p 424). Despite Burlington’s

admission regarding the visibility of the spill immediately following the accident, the circuit court erroneously states, “there is no record evidence tending to show that the spill was visible.” (R. p. 10). Burlington denies that any of its numerous employees who were working behind the nine nearby cash registers could have seen the spill; however, it is uncontested the spill occurred approximately ten feet from the registers where at least two Burlington employees were working. (R. pp. 254, lines 15-20; p. 264, line 16-p. 265, line 17; R. p. 40, timestamp 25-:35). The circuit court emphasized the “DVR footage d[id] not show any visible spill whatsoever” in support of its conclusion that Burlington lacked actual knowledge. (R. p. 10). This conclusion is respectfully misplaced because three customers—who were within inches of the spill—unmistakably noticed it and were presumably in a much more advantageous position to view the spill than a surveillance camera of limited video quality mounted behind the cash registers. (R. p. 40, timestamps 26:39, 28:04, 29:53). The circuit court again erroneously holds in support of its conclusion that “Ms. Simon did not witness the child throwing the cup, [sic] because her view was blocked as she was checking out the child’s family.” (R. p. 7). However, the surveillance footage *undeniably* shows there were *no visible barriers or distractions* that would have precluded Ms. Simon from seeing the child—who was directly in front of Ms. Simon—throw the cup. (R. p. 40; timestamp 25:35). To that end, the cup was thrown in the *middle* of the aisle, *not* under the checkout counter—which would have arguably been more difficult to see—further belying the court’s misplaced conclusion. (R. p. 40; timestamp 25:35-25:45). A reasonable jury could easily conclude that Ms. Simon chose to ignore the incident, despite having seen the child spill the liquid onto the store’s floor.

Five minutes after the spill occurred, video surveillance depicts Ms. Simon leave the area behind the registers, walk right past the location where the liquid spilled, and look directly down towards the spill as she walked past it. (R. p. 40; timestamp 29:05-29:15). Additionally, **Ms.**

Arsenault—as Burlington’s 30(b)(6) designee—admitted Ms. Simon was looking down towards the spill on the floor as she walked by it and “literally walked within inches of the spill that was on the floor.” (R. p. 255, lines 12-22; p. 259, lines 9-18; R. p. 40, timestamp 29:12-29:15). However, instead of stopping to clean it up, she continued to walk past it. Because Ms. Simon “had the opportunity to observe [the spill] on the floor,” a reasonable jury could find Burlington actually observed the spill—and therefore had notice of it—but failed to take the appropriate action.

2. Constructive Notice

Ms. Qualls contends there is more than a mere scintilla of evidence to establish *actual* notice as to Burlington. Assuming *arguendo* that Burlington did not possess the requisite actual notice, Ms. Qualls presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence that Burlington possessed constructive notice. When, as here, a party moves for summary judgment based on the alleged lack of notice, “[t]he pivotal question . . . is whether there [i]s evidence from which the jury might reasonably infer that the defendant, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, *should have known* of the hazard on the floor which caused the injury to the plaintiff. In determining this question, it is elementary that all of the evidence and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom have to be viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.” *Wimberly v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 117, 123, 165 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1969) (emphasis added).

Burlington argued to the circuit court that Ms. Simon did not have notice of the spill because she did not see the child—sitting only a few feet away from her—throw the cup, which landed less than ten feet away and within Ms. Simon’s direct line of sight. Further, Burlington claims that when Ms. Simon subsequently walked within inches of the spill, she did not see it because she was looking at her phone and was distracted. However, Burlington does not have

conclusive proof to support either of these suppositions regarding what Ms. Simon did or did not observe, as Ms. Simon’s testimony is not in the record. (R. p. 10, n. 15). What *is* in the record is video surveillance showing both of these incidents *and* the actions of other customers upon approaching the spill. This evidence demonstrates that Ms. Simon would have seen the spill—and *should* have seen the spill—through the exercise of reasonable diligence. *See id.* (“The pivotal question . . . is whether there [i]s evidence from which the jury might reasonably infer that the defendant, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, *should have known* of the hazard on the floor which caused the injury to the plaintiff.”). Importantly, at least three customers passed by the spill before Ms. Qualls fell and noticeably changed their course or took abnormally large steps to avoid it. (R. p. 40, timestamps 26:39, 28:04, 29:53). Ms. Qualls also presented evidence that her fall occurred in a high traffic area that was constantly occupied with numerous Burlington employees, making it reasonable to monitor this area more closely than less populated portions of the store. (R. p. 264, lines 13-19).

If Ms. Simon were exercising reasonable diligence, store policy would have required her to stop immediately and take prompt action to prevent a slip or trip hazard. (R. p. 217, lines 3-23; p. 223, lines 5-9; p. 261, lines 12-14). **By Burlington’s own admission, Ms. Simon had the opportunity to observe the spill; as a result, she should have seen the spill.** (R. p. 259, lines 9-18; p. 269, lines 8-11). Burlington also agreed that its employees generally should be watchful for potential hazards, and Ms. Simon should not have been using a personal cell phone outside the break room. **When questioned, Ms. Arsenault agreed (1) Ms. Simon was “distracted because she was on her phone or playing with her phone when she walked past the spill on the floor”; (2) she “possibly” would have seen it if she were not distracted; and (3) anyone walking by the spill would have noticed it if he or she was paying attention.** (R. p. 274, lines 11-15; p.

261, lines 23-25; p. 269, lines 8-11). These concessions do not negate Ms. Simon's responsibility. Rather, taking all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to Ms. Qualls, these statements confirm Burlington should have discovered the hazard that caused Ms. Qualls's injuries.

The circuit court cursorily relied upon several cases in support of its ruling that Ms. Qualls failed to present a genuine issue of material fact on the issue of constructive knowledge. These cases are not controlling on this issue, and each case is easily distinguishable from the facts at hand. Specifically, the circuit court cites to *Wimberly v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 117, 165 S.E.2d 627 (1969), *Gilliland v. Pierce Motor Company*, 235 S.C. 268, 111 S.E.2d 521 (1959), *Hunter v. Dixie Home Stores*, 232 S.C. 139, 101 S.E.2d 262 (1957), and *Bessinger v. Bi-Lo*, 329 S.C. 617, 496 S.E.2d 33 (Ct. App. 1998), and holds that these cases "have held that five minutes is insufficient to establish constructive knowledge as a matter of law." (R. p. 11).

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