THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
SEP 10 2018
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-01699
Appellate Case No.: 2017-002433

Lallie Qualls.....Appellant,

v.

Burlington Coat Factory of South Carolina, LLC
and Burlington Coat Factory Direct Corp. Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Nick Mermiges, Esq. (SC Bar # 101640)
Jaime McSweeney, Esq. (SC Bar # 101639)
Law Office of Nick Mermiges, LCC
1720 Main St., Suite 202
Columbia, SC 29201
Phone: (803) 724-1258
Fax: (803) 724-1201
Email: Nick@NDMLaw.com
mcsweeney@NDMLaw.com

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

For example, Appellant argues in her Return to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment:

“the surveillance video shows the employee, Ms. Simon, leaving the area behind the registers, and walking right past the spot where the liquid has spilled, looking down towards where the drink was spilled as she walks ... Further, Defendant’s 30(b)(6) designee admits that Ms. Simon ‘had the opportunity to observe the spill on the floor.’ (Arsenault Depo. p.87) [R. p. 259].”

(R. p. 52). Additionally, in her Motion for Reconsideration, Appellant argues: “[b]ecause there is at least a mere scintilla of fact that Ms. Simon failed to see the visible spill on the phone due to her being distracted by playing on her phone, summary judgment is not proper.” (R. p. 65). This does not qualify as evidence of actual knowledge. Evidence of actual knowledge would be an admission

on the part of Burlington employee Simon that she saw the spill. Notably, Appellant did not seek to take the deposition of Burlington employee Simon. Appellant instead attempts to create an issue of material fact that is not genuine. She asks the Court to unreasonably infer from the DVR footage that because Simon walked by the spill, Simon had actual notice of the spill. The video simply does not show what Simon sees or what she is thinking. “[An] opposing party must, under Rule 56(e), ‘do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts’ but ‘must come forward with ‘specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial’”. See *Grimsley v. Law Enforcement Div.*, 780 S.E.2d 897, 415 S.C. 33 (2015). “Mere speculation does not create a material issue of fact warranting denial of a Motion for Summary Judgment.” *Jackson v. Bermuda Sands, Inc.*, 677 S.E.2d 612 (Ct. App. 2009); see also *Barwick v. Celotex Corp.*, 736 F.2d 946, 953 (4th Cir. 1984) (a “party may rely only on those inferences of which the evidence is reasonably susceptible, and may not resort to speculation.”).

Notably, Appellant ignores her own sworn testimony where she states that Burlington employee Simon did nothing to indicate she saw the spill. (R. p. 126, lines 13-25 - p. 127, line 1). Further, Appellant ignores record evidence that Burlington’s store manager, Pamela Arsenault expressly confirmed that Burlington employee Simon had no knowledge of the spill before Appellant’s fall. (R. p. 259, lines 21-25 - p. 260, line 1). Both Qualls’ and Arsenault’s deposition excerpts will be addressed in more detail below.

The matter of *Gillespie v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.* 394 S.E.2d 24, 302 S.C. 90 (Ct. App 1990), is directly on point. In *Gillespie*, the Court of Appeals specifically rejected the argument that an employee within the field of vision of a spill creates a genuine issue of material fact for a jury. In *Gillespie*, a customer slipped on water while entering a checkout lane at Wal-Mart. The customer sued Wal-Mart for negligence and summary judgment was entered in Wal-Mart’s favor. On

appeal, the plaintiff/customer argued that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment because the wet floor was “within the field of vision” of Wal-Mart’s checkout clerk and consequently, the clerk could have seen the wet floor “if she had been looking”. *Gillespie v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 302 S.C. at 91 (Ct. App. 1990). The Court of Appeals replied: “[t]he mere fact that water was on the floor of the store and was within the field of vision of a nearby store employee at the time Gillespie slipped upon it is not by itself enough to charge Wal-Mart with negligence.” *Id* at 91-92 (citing *Kroger Grocery & Banking Co. v. Spillman*, 279 Ky. 366, 130 S.W. (2d) 786 (KY 1939) (reversing a verdict in favor of a customer who slipped on grapes lying on the floor within a few feet of where two or more employees were working where there was no proof regarding the length of time the grapes were on the floor); see also *Wilson v. Wal-Mart, Inc.*, No. 3:15-1157-JFA (D. SC June 2, 2016) (sitting in diversity jurisdiction and holding surveillance video showing employees in the general area prior to plaintiff’s fall was insufficient to charge defendant with constructive knowledge of substance).

The South Carolina Supreme Court matter of *Pennington v. Zayre Corp.*, 252 S.C. 176, 165 S.E.2d 695 (1969), is also analogous. In *Pennington*, the plaintiff slipped on a plastic bag and fell to the floor in the aisle of defendant’s department store. Witnesses to the fall testified that a female employee of the defendant was in “the immediate area” at the time of the fall. *Id* at 178. Witness testimony from other customers also established that two or three more plastic bags were on the floor in the immediate area where the plaintiff fell. The South Carolina Supreme Court granted defendant’s request for nonsuit, finding that the plaintiff did not present evidence from which a reasonable inference of negligence by the defendant could be drawn.

In light of the foregoing caselaw, Appellant's argument that Burlington had actual notice of the spill before Appellant's fall because Burlington employee Simon was in the immediate area of the spill simply fails as a matter of law.

Tellingly, Appellant ignores her own deposition testimony where she testifies that Burlington Employee Simon did nothing to indicate she saw the spill:

"Q. Did [the employee] do anything that made you think she knew about the spill?

A. No

Q. She just walked by it?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you believe she did or didn't know about the spill?

A. I can't say. I can't say.

Q. Was the spill easy to see?

A. No.

Q. If it was easy to see, you would've avoided it; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Did anybody that worked for Burlington Coat Factory tell you then knew about the spill?

A. No."

(R. p. 126 lines 13-25 - p. 127, line 1). Later, when asked the following leading question by Appellant's counsel, Appellant agrees that Simon should have seen the spill, but didn't:

"Q. Okay. And is it your testimony that she [Burlington employee Simon] should have seen the spill when she walked past where it had occurred or-

A. Yes.

Q. All right. But she didn't did she?

A. No.”

(R. p. 163, lines 12-18).

In addition, as a practical matter, Burlington's DVR footage is clearly time-stamped during playback of the video. The DVR footage is 60 minutes in duration. (R. p. 40). Yet, despite the clear demarcation of time at the bottom of the footage, Appellant does not cite to any specific time point in the DVR footage to support her argument that the Burlington employee had actual notice of the spill. Instead, Appellant leaves the Court and the Respondent with no other option but to watch the entire video themselves and surmise which particular moments Appellant is referring to.⁵ This is especially problematic, where there is record evidence that Appellant herself specifically testified that Burlington employee Simon did not do anything to indicate she knew about the spill. (R. p. 126, lines 13-25 - p. 127, line 1); (R. p. 163, lines 12-18) (R. p. 129, lines 1-13). In essence, Appellant claims that the trial court erred by failing to draw an inference that was directly contradicted by the Appellant's own sworn testimony. (R. p. 126, lines 13-25 - p. 127, line 1); (R. p. 163, lines 12-18) (R. p. 129, lines 1-13).

Appellant did not present any additional evidence tending to contradict the DVR footage or her own sworn testimony that Ms. Simon did nothing to indicate that she was aware of the spill. Instead, Appellant's counsel simply makes unverified arguments to the contrary. The Court should not recognize this as evidence. Rather, this unverified speculation constitutes an attempt to create

⁵ By failing to cite to a specific time demarcation in the 60-minute DVR footage, Appellant has effectively failed to set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. See *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 410 S.E.2d537, 306 S.C. 101, 115 (holding “[o]nce moving party carries its initial burden, opposing party must, under Rule 56(e), ‘do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts’ but ‘must come forward with ‘specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial’”); see also *Grimsley v. Law Enforcement Div.*, 780 S.E.2d 897, 415 S.C. 33 (2015).

a sham issue of material fact. *Cf. Cothran v. Brown*, 357 S.C. 210, 218, 592 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2004) (a court may disregard an affidavit submitted “to contradict that party’s own prior sworn statement” in an attempt to create a sham issue of material fact for purposes of summary judgment); *McMaster v. Dewitt*, 767 S.E.2d 451 (Ct. App. 2014) (same). In effect, Appellant insists that her counsel’s unreasonable interpretation of Ms. Simon’s actions on the DVR footage should trump her own testimony. There is no record evidence that anyone other than Appellant’s counsel thinks Ms. Simon saw the spill. The situation is similar to that of a sham affidavit. “If a party who has been examined at length on deposition could raise an issue of fact simply by submitting an affidavit contradicting his own prior testimony, this would greatly diminish the utility of summary judgment as a procedure for screening out sham issues of fact.” *Barwick v. Celotex Corp.*, 736 F.2d 946, 960 (4th Cir. 1984).

Appellant also asserts that the deposition testimony of Burlington’s 30(b)(6) designee, Pamela Arsenault, creates a genuine issue of material fact. However, in her Initial Brief, Appellant inaccurately quotes the substance of Ms. Arsenault’s specific statements. To further compound the confusion, Appellant fails to cite to the deponent’s specific lines of testimony in the Initial Brief. Specifically, Appellant states the following in her Initial Brief:

“Additionally, Ms. Arsenault – as Burlington’s 30(b)(6) designee – admitted Ms. Simon was looking down towards the spill on the floor as she walked by it and ‘*literally walked within inches of the spill that was on the floor.*’ (Arsenault Depo. Pp 83, 87; Def. Ex. 2).”

(App. Initial Brief p. 9).

Appellant states that Ms. Arsenault “admitted Ms. Simon was **looking down towards the spill** on the floor as she walked by it” [emphasis added]; however, a hard read of pages 83 (R. p. 255) and 87 (R. p. 259) of Ms. Arsenault’s deposition testimony reveals that Ms. Arsenault never admits that Ms. Simon was “looking down towards the spill”. (R. pp. 255-260). In fact, the phrase

“looking down” is entirely absent from the deposition testimony. Ms. Arsenault never admitted that the Burlington employee looked down at the spill. By flouting the procedural requirement of citing to the specific page and lines of a deposition transcript, Appellant is able to contort and misrepresent the specific testimony of Burlington’s 30(b)(6) designee.⁶ Page 87 (R. p. 259) of Ms. Arsenault’s deposition testimony reads as follows (with defense counsel’s objections omitted):

Q. Okay. And you agree, in fact, that Ms. Taylor Simon had the opportunity to observe the spill when she walked past?

A: Not if she wasn’t looking.

Q: But she had the opportunity to observe it; didn’t she?

A: Yeah.

Q: Okay. And you agree, though, that a store employee literally walked within inches of the spill that was on the floor; correct?

A: Yeah.

Q. But instead of stopping, she kept on going; correct?

A. Because she didn’t see it.

Q. Okay. How do you know she didn’t see it?

A. She said she didn’t see it.

Q. Did you ask her?

(R. p. 259, lines 1-25 - p. 260, line 1, objections omitted).

⁶ Numerous federal circuit courts have held that in the context of a motion for summary judgment and Rule 56(e), failure to cite to the page and line numbers when referring to a deposition transcript constitutes a defect warranting exclusion of the evidence. *Orr v. Bank of America, NT & SA*, 285 F. 3d 764, 775 (9th Cir. 2002) (holding that “[t]he efficient management of judicial business mandates that parties submit evidence responsibly” and “when a party relies on deposition testimony in a summary judgment motion without citing to page and line numbers, the trial court may, in its discretion exclude the evidence”); *see also Huey v. UPS, Inc.*, 165 F.3d 1084, 1085 (7th Cir. 1999) (“[J]udges need not paw over the files without assistance from the parties.”); *Nissho-Iwai Am. Corp. v. Kline*, 845 F.2d 1300, 1307 (5th Cir.1988) (parties must designate specific facts and their location in the record when relying on deposition testimony).

Similarly, on page 83 (R. p. 255) of the deposition transcript, Ms. Arsenault never admits that Burlington employee Simon “**was looking down towards** the spill as she walked by it.” (R. p. 255, lines 1-25). Instead Plaintiff’s counsel asks Ms. Arsenault: “[o]n Photograph 3, 4, and 5, do you know what Taylor is looking at in these photographs?” (R. p. 255, lines 12-13). In response, Ms. Arsenault answers that “it appears to be a cell phone”. (R. p. 255, lines 18-22). Significantly, said photographs do not appear to be in the lower court’s file; accordingly, it does not appear that these photographs were before the lower court for consideration and as such, the particular photographs were not preserved for consideration on the record on appeal. Nevertheless, Appellant attempts to conflate the notion that Ms. Simon may have looked at her cell phone while on break with the notion that Ms. Simon *looked down* at her cell phone while walking past the spill. The record evidence simply does not contain an admission on the part of Arsenault that Burlington employee Simon looked down at the spill or saw the spill.

Appellant makes demonstrably false, untrue claims that Burlington’s corporate designee, Arsenault, said Burlington employee Simon was “looking down at the spill”. The record evidence simply does not support this; rather, Arsenault’s deposition testimony states that Burlington employee Simon did not see the spill. (R. p. 259, lines 21-22; p. 260, line 1). Appellant also ignores Arsenault’s sworn affidavit which again states that no employee saw the spill. (R. p. 41, ¶5). Specifically, Arsenault states in her Affidavit in Support of Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment: “[n]o employee of Burlington Coat Factory knew that the liquid had been spilled before Mrs. Qualls fall.” (R. p. 41, ¶5).

Finally, Appellant argues that the lower court erred in stating “there is no record evidence tending to show that the spill was visible”. (App. Initial Brief, p. 8). The exact quote from the Court’s Order states “there is no record evidence tending to show that the spill was visible **before**

the Plaintiff fell.” (R. p. 10) (emphasis added). Appellant has not offered any evidence to show that the spill was visible **before** Plaintiff fell. Appellant only points to evidence that discusses the spill **after** Plaintiff’s fall occurred.

First, Appellant cites to Burlington’s Incident Report which was prepared by Pamela Arsenault after the Plaintiff fell. (App. Initial Brief, p. 8) (*citing* R. p. 264). As a preliminary matter, there is no indication that the lower court was ever presented with this Incident Report. Also, there is no indication that Appellant ever cited to “Exhibit 6” to Arsenault’s Deposition in her filings with the lower court. In her Motion for Reconsideration, Appellant cites to deposition testimony from Pamela Arsenault regarding said Incident Report (R. pp. 66-67); however, the actual Incident Report does not appear to be filed with the lower court as an exhibit to Arsenault’s deposition or otherwise. As such, since this matter was not before the lower court for consideration, it was not preserved for consideration on appeal. *See* Rule 210(c), SCACR; *see also I’on, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 526 S.E.2d 716, 338 S.C. 406, 422 (2010); *Roche v. South Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm’n*, 263 S.C. 451, 211 S.E.2d 243 (1975) (purpose of an appeal is to determine whether the trial judge erroneously acted or failed to act and when appellant’s contentions are not presented or passed on by the trial judge, such contentions will not be considered on appeal).

However, even if the Incident Report were properly in the record, there is no record evidence that shows that the spill was visible **before the Plaintiff/Appellant fell**. First, Appellant is asking the Court to draw an inference contrary to her own sworn testimony that the spill was not visible before the fall. (R. p. 126, lines 13-25).⁷ Second, the DVR footage does not show any

⁷ “Q. Was the spill easy to see?

A. No.

Q. If it was easy to see, you would’ve avoided it; right?

A. Yes.

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